

# Marine Management Organisation

## Technical Annex: Modelled Mapping of Continuous Underwater Noise Generated by Activities

August 2015



Technical Annex: Modelled Mapping of Continuous Underwater Noise Generated by Activities

MMO Project No: 1097



Project funded by: The Marine Management Organisation



Report prepared by: ABPmer

#### © Marine Management Organisation 2015

This publication (excluding the logos) may be re-used free of charge in any format or medium (under the terms of the Open Government Licence <u>www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/</u>). It may only be re-used accurately and not in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as Marine Management Organisation Copyright and use of it must give the title of the source publication. Where third party Copyright material has been identified, further use of that material requires permission from the Copyright holders concerned.

#### Disclaimer

This report contributes to the Marine Management Organisation (MMO) evidence base which is a resource developed through a large range of research activity and methods carried out by both MMO and external experts.

The opinions expressed in this report do not necessarily reflect the views of MMO nor are they intended to indicate how the MMO will act on a given set of facts or signify any preference for one research activity or method over another. MMO is not liable for the accuracy or completeness of the information contained nor is it responsible for any use of the content.

#### This report should be cited as

MMO (2015). Modelled Mapping of Continuous Underwater Noise Generated by Activities. A report produced for the Marine Management Organisation, Technical Annex, pp 43. MMO Project No: 1097. ISBN: 978-1-909452-87-9.

First published August 2015.

## Contents

<b>1. Introduction</b> 1.1 Technical annex structure	<b>1</b> 1
2. Collation of Noise Sources and Hearing Thresholds	1
2.1 Anthropogenic continuous noise sources	1
2.2 Natural ambient sound	8
2.3 Hearing thresholds	11
3. Logical Data Process Tool	13
3.1 Tool principles	13
3.2 Tool input data layers	13
3.3 Toolbox overview	14
3.4 Pre-processing tools	15
3.4.1 Pre-processing tool – EMS to Grid	16
3.4.2 Pre-processing tool – VMS to Grid	17
3.4.3 Pre-processing tool – AIS Cargo	18
3.4.4 Pre-processing tool – AIS Dredger UnderwaterOps	19
3.2.2 Pre-processing tool – AIS Passenger	19
3.4.5 Pre-processing tool – AIS Fishing	20
3.4.6 Pre-processing tool – AIS Passenger	21
3.4.7 Pre-processing tool – AIS Port Service Craft	22
3.4.8 Pre-processing tool – AIS Tanker	23
3.5 Noise propagation tools	24
3.5.1 Noise propagation tool – Part 1	25
3.5.2 Noise propagation tool – Part 2	26
3.5.3 Noise propagation tool – Add Fields level 2 sub model	
2.5.5 Noise propagation tool – Iterate Cells level 2 sub model	20
3.6 Einal Join tool	29
3.6.1 Final Join tool	
3.7 Tool undates	
5.7 Tool upuales	
4. ArcGIS Geodatabase Schema	33
4.1 NM Raw DataSets geodatabase schema	33
4.2 NM Tool Inputs geodatabase schema	34
4.3 NM Tool Outputs geodatabase schema	36
4.4 NM Butters geodatabase schema	40
5. References	41

## Figures

Figure 1: Visual representation of the buffers applied to the source cell and the neighbouring	J
cell centroids which fall within the buffers	13
Figure 2: Image of Noise Model Toolbox and the tools contained within the toolbox	14
Figure 3: Diagram showing the order in which to run the Noise model toolbox tools	14

Figure 4: The hierarchal relationship between the No	į
models	

## **Tables**

se	Ρ	rc	pp	26	Ð	g	З	at	i	0	r	۱	r	Υ	1	0	C	b	e	l	ć	a	r	10	d	tł	n	e	è	S	31	J	b	)				
																																			 	 2	24	4

at have been collated from available	
ata sources ed from available literature	2 8 9
ports level (dB) to the received level at	11
	13
ts.gdb'	33
	33
ne_Plan_Areas'	33
_Activity_2011'	33
ging_polygons'	34
.gdb'	34
	34
derwaterOps'	34
	35
	35
Craft'	35
	35
	35
	35
ate'	35
	36
,	36
ts.gdb'	36
	37
derwaterOps'	37
	37
	37
Craft'	38
	38
	38
	39
	39
۵¢٬	40
example of the schema of all feature	
	40

### **1. Introduction**

This technical annex has been prepared by ABP Marine Environmental Research Ltd (ABPmer) on behalf of the Marine Management Organisation (MMO). It presents technical information that has supported the development of a Geographic Information System (GIS) tool that can produce indicative data for mapping the distribution of continuous anthropogenic underwater noise generated by activities in the south marine plan areas.

#### **1.1 Technical annex structure**

This technical annex has been structured as follows:

- Section 1 Introduction – presents the overall aim of the project and technical annex structure
- Section 2 Collation of Noise Sources and Hearing Thresholds – presents the data that have been collated and have informed the development of the GIS tool
- Logical Data Process Model describes the detail of the noise propagation Section 3 ArcGIS Toolbox including all tools, inputs to the model and outputs generated
- Section 4 ArcGIS geodatabase schemas – presents the schemas for the four geodatabases which accompany the tool and the feature classes which are used within the tool or are created by the tool.

### 2. Collation of Noise Sources and Hearing Thresholds

A literature review was undertaken to identify and categorise the range of natural ambient and anthropogenic continuous noise sources that are relevant to the south marine plan areas. The literature review has drawn on ABPmer's existing in-house library of underwater noise references together with searches using scientific databases and internet search tools such as 'Google Scholar'. The outputs of the literature review have helped to identify significant anthropogenic continuous noise sources in the UK marine area that could be taken into account in a continuous underwater noise mapping GIS tool.

#### 2.1 Anthropogenic continuous noise sources

A range of anthropogenic continuous noise sources have been collated as part of the literature review and are presented in Table 1. Information on the noise generated by operational offshore wind farms structures and oil and gas installations has also been collated, while noting that these do not currently occur in the south marine plan areas at present. The full range of noise sources of anthropogenic activities and sub-activities (in brackets) that have been collated are as follows:

- dredging (backhoe dredger, clamshell dredger, cutter suction dredger, suction dredger, trailer suction hopper dredger)
- drilling exploration (drilling production, jack-up, semi-submersible)
- fishing (trawler trawling)
- military (low-frequency sonar, mid-frequency sonar) •
- offshore wind (operational turbine)
- oil and gas (operational platform and support vessel)

- recreation (inflatable boat with outboard motor, jet ski, speed boat) •
- shipping (boat, bulk cargo/carrier, container, fishing boat/trawler, oceanographic vessel, • offshore oil production vessel, passenger, ship, supertanker, tanker/freighter, tug and barge, vehicle carrier, work boat).

#### Table 1: Anthropogenic continuous noise sources that have been collated from available literature.

Activity	Sub-activity	Ş	Source level	Frequenc	y (Hz)	Vessel	Vessel	Engine (type/	Other Information	Confidence
		Value	Units (metric)	Range	Peak	length (m)	speed (knots)	size)		(H/M/L)
Dredging	Backhoe dredger	163	dB re 1µPa <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup>	20-20,000	35-45	-	-	-	Excavation of material	М
Dredging	Backhoe dredger	179	dB re 1µPa <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup>	3-20,000	315	-	-	-	Removing fractured rock	М
Dredging	Backhoe dredger	168-186	dB re 1µPa m (RMS)	30 ->20,000	100-500	-	-	-	Omni-directional Continuous	М
Dredging	Clamshell dredger	150-162	dB re 1µPa m (SPL)	10-1,000	-	-	-	-		Н
Dredging	Cutter Suction Dredger	175	dB re 1µPa <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup>	-	<2,500	-	-	-	Fracturing rock.	L
Dredging	Cutter Suction Dredger	160-180	dB re 1µPa m (SPL)	10-1000	-	-	-	-		М
Dredging	Cutter Suction Dredger	172-185	dB re 1µPa m (RMS)	30->20,000	100-500	-	-	-	Continuous Omni-directional	Μ
Dredging	Suction dredger	160	dB re 1µPa m	-	380	-	-	-		Н
Dredging	Trailer Suction Hopper Dredger	187	dB re 1µPa <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup>	30-63,000	40-500	-	-	-	Sand extraction	М
Dredging	Trailer Suction Hopper Dredger	150-170	dB re 1µPa m (SPL)	-	-	-	-	-	UKD Bluefin	L
Dredging	Trailer Suction Hopper Dredger	184-188	dB re 1µPa <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup>	-	100-500	-	-	-	Sand extraction	М
Dredging	Trailer Suction Hopper Dredger	186-188	dB re 1µPa m (RMS)	30->20,000	100-500	-	-	-	Continuous Omni-directional	Μ
Drilling Exploration	Drilling production	163	dB re 1µPa m	-	250	-	-	-		Н
Drilling Exploration	Jack-up	59	dB re 1µPa m	45-7,070	16	-	-	-	Sedco J jack-up rig	Μ
Drilling Exploration	Jack-up	85-127	dB re 1µPa m	5-1,200	-	-	-	-		Н
Drilling Exploration	Semi-submersible	167-171	dB re 1µPa m	16-200	-	-	-	-		Н
Fishing	Trawler trawling	147	dB re 1µPa m	40-1,000	100	-	5	-		Μ
Military	Low-frequency sonar	215	dB re 1µPa m (0-pk)	100-500	-	-	-	-	Duration (600- 1,000ms) Horizontally focussed	М

Activity	Sub-activity	Ś	Source level	Frequenc	y (Hz)	Vessel	Vessel	Engine (type/	Other Information	Confidence
		Value	Units (metric)	Range	Peak	length (m)	speed (knots)	size)		(H/M/L)
Military	Low-frequency sonar	235	dB re 1µPa m (0-pk)	100-500	-	-	-	-	Duration (6s-100s) Horizontally focussed	Н
Military	Low-frequency sonar	240	dB re 1µPa m (0-pk)	100-500	-	-	-	-	Duration (6s-100s) Horizontally focussed	Μ
Military	Mid- frequency sonar	235	dB re 1µPa m	2,000-8,000	-	-	-	-	Duration (2s) Horizontally focussed	Н
Military	Mid- frequency sonar	223-235	dB re 1µPa m (0-pk)	2,800-8,200	3,500	-	-	-	Duration (500- 2,000ms) Horizontally focussed	М
Offshore wind	Operational turbine	142	dB re 1µPa m (RMS)	16-20,000	30-200	-	-	-	Continuous Omni-directional	Μ
Offshore wind	Operational turbine	151	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	-	-	-	Swedish Baltic Sea Wind speed 13ms <sup>-1</sup>	L
Offshore wind	Operational turbine	151	dB re 1µPa m	60-300	-	-	-	-		Н
Offshore wind	Operational turbine	153	dB re 1µPa m	-	16	-	-	-	Individual turbines of relatively low power (<1 MW).	М
Offshore wind	Operational turbine	73-99	dB re 1µPa m	30-1,600	400	-	-	-		Μ
Oil and gas	Operational platform and support vessel	196	dB re 1µPa m	10-100,000	100-300	-	-	-	Recorded at 5m depth Support vessel in close proximity to platform	Μ
Oil and gas	Operational platform and support vessel	226	dB re 1µPa m	10-100,000	100-300	-	-	-	Recorded at 10m depth Support vessel in close proximity to platform	Μ
Recreation	Boat	150	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	-	5	18hp outboard		L
Recreation	Boat	152	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	4	20	25hp outboard		L
Recreation	Boat	156	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	7	20	2 x 80hp outdrive		L
Recreation	Boat	156	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	8	10	260hp outdrive		L
Recreation	Boats	>175	dB re 1µPa	-	-	-	-	Large outboard	Small boats	L
Recreation	Inflatable	152	dB re 1µPa m	-	6,300	-	-			Μ

Activity	Sub-activity	S	Source level	Frequenc	cy (Hz)	Vessel	Vessel	Engine (type/	Other Information	Confidence
		Value	Units (metric)	Range	Peak	length (m)	speed (knots)	size)		(H/M/L)
Recreation	Inflatable	156	dB re 1µPa m	-	6,300	5	-		Zodiac	М
Recreation	Inflatable	105-130	dB re 1µPa m	800-20,000	-	-	-	6hp outboard		Н
Recreation	Jet ski	75-125	dB re 1µPa m	800-20,000	-	-	-	650cc		Н
Recreation	Jet ski	75-125	dB re 1µPa m	800-50,000	-	-	-	650cc		Н
Recreation	Speedboat	156	dB re 1µPa m	-	630	7	-			М
Recreation	Speedboat	110-130	dB re 1µPa m	800-20,000	-	-	-	90hp outdrive		Н
Recreation	Tour boat	150	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	20	10	-		L
Recreation	Whaler	153	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	4	20	20hp outboard	Boston whaler	L
Recreation	Zodiac	152	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	5	20	20hp outboard		L
Shipping	Boat	157	dB re 1µPa m (SPL)	10->10,000	60-500	18.6	9.1	-	Modelled source depth 1.25m	М
Shipping	Boat	160	dB re 1µPa m	1,000-5,000	-	-	20	-	Small boat, outboard engine	Н
Shipping	Boat	164	dB re 1µPa m (SPL)	10->10,000	60-500	7.8	15.6	-	Modelled source depth 0.5m	М
Shipping	Boats and ships	160-180	dB re 1µPa m (RMS)	20->10,000	>1,000	-	-	-	Omni-directional Continuous Small and medium sized boats and ships	L
Shipping	Bulk cargo ship	178-192	dB re 1µPa m (SPL)	-	<500	-	-	-		Н
Shipping	Bulk carrier	175	dB re 1µPa m	10-40,000	25	173	-	Direct drive low- speed diesel engine	Propeller rotation rate 68rpm	Н
Shipping	Bulk carrier	185	dB re 1µPa m	10-40,000	25-200	173	-	Direct drive low- speed diesel engine	Propeller rotation rate 140rpm	Н
Shipping	Bulk carriers	184-187	dB re 1µPa m	-	20-1,000	167-229	14	-		Н

Activity	Sub-activity	So	ource level	Frequen	cy (Hz)	Vessel	Vessel	Engine (type/	Other Information	Confidence
		Value	Units (metric)	Range	Peak	length (m)	speed (knots)	size)		(H/M/L)
Shipping	Car carrier	162	dB re 1µPa m	-		190	16	-		L
Shipping	Cargo vessel	192	dB re 1µPa m	40-100	-	173	16	-		Н
Shipping	Chemical product tankers	177-185	dB re 1µPa m	-	20-1,000	148-182	10-16	-		Н
Shipping	Container ship	169	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	210	19	-		L
Shipping	Container ship	171	dB re 1µPa m	1-120,000	-	300	-	-	Low speed Vessel CMA CGM Verlaine Clear and calm with minimal wind speeds	М
Shipping	Container ship	181	dB re 1µPa m	-	33	219	-	-		М
Shipping	Container ship	181	dB re 1µPa m	-	8	274	-	-		Н
Shipping	Container ship	186	dB re 1µPa m	1-120,000	-	129	-	-	Low speed Vessel Vega Stockholm Calm with minimal wind speeds	М
Shipping	Container ship	198	dB re 1µPa m	-	23	274	-	-		М
Shipping	Container ship	169-173	dB re 1µPa m	1-120,000	-	335	-	-	Low speed Vessel Kyoto Express Very calm with minimal wind speeds	М
Shipping	Container ship	184-188	dB re 1µPa m	20-1,000	-	294-298	21	-		Н
Shipping	Crew boat	156	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	16	-	-		L
Shipping	Crude oil tanker	179-182	dB re 1µPa m	-	20-1,000	229-243	14-16	-		Н
Shipping	Cruise ship	168	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	-	19	-		L
Shipping	Dynamic positioning	177	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	-	-	-		L
Shipping	Dynamic positioning	121-197	dB re 1µPa m	50-3,200	-	-	-	-		L
Shipping	Dynamic positioning	162-180	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	-	-	-		L

Activity	Sub-activity	5	Source level	Frequenc	:y (Hz)	Vessel	Vessel	Engine (type/	Other Information	Confidence
		Value	Units (metric)	Range	Peak	length (m)	speed (knots)	size)		(H/M/L)
Shipping	Fishing boat	151	dB re 1µPa m	250-1,000	-	-	-	-		М
Shipping	Fishing boat	110-135	dB re 1µPa m	100-20,000	-	-	-	240hp outboard		Н
Shipping	Fishing trawler	158	dB re 1µPa m	100-250	-	30	-	-		Н
Shipping	Fishing trawler	158	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	-	10	-	In transit	L
Shipping	Freighter	172	dB re 1µPa m	-	41	135	-	-		М
Shipping	Icebreaker	174	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	-	10	-		L
Shipping	Large ferry	171	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	-	16	-		L
Shipping	Large merchant vessel	160-190	dB re 1µPa m	50-900	-	-	-	-		Н
Shipping	Large vessel movements	180-190	dB re 1µPa m (RMS)	6->30,000	<200	-	-	-	Omni-directional Continuous	L
Shipping	Military vessel	190-203	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	-	-	-		L
Shipping	Oceanographic vessel	170-230	dB re 1µPa m	<100	-	-	-	-		Н
Shipping	Offshore oil production vessels	174-183	dB re 1µPa m	20-2,500	-	209-340	-	-	Water depth 75- 350m	Н
Shipping	Oil tanker	203	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	>250	16	-		L
Shipping	Open hatch cargo ships	179-184	dB re 1µPa m	-	20-1,000	190-213	14	-		Н
Shipping	Passenger	154-155	dB re 1µPa m	1-120,000	-	-	>10	-	Red Jet Ferry (jet hydrofoil ferry) Clear with a moderate south- westerly breeze and slight chop on the water.	М
Shipping	Product tankers	179-183	dB re 1µPa m	-	20-1,000	180-228	14-16	-		Н
Shipping	Roll on/off	165	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	200	15	-		L
Shipping	Ship	176	dB re 1µPa m (SPL)	10->10,000	60-120	38.9	14.6	-	Modelled source depth 3m	М
Shipping	Ship	181	dB re 1µPa m (SPL)	10->10,000	60-100	77.8	13.6	-	Modelled source depth 6m	М
Shipping	Ship	191	dB re 1µPa m (SPL)	10->10,000	60-100	155.6	15	-	Modelled source depth 6m	М
Shipping	Ships	180-190	dB re 1µPa (RMS)	6->30,000	<200	-	-	-	Continuous Omni-directional	L

Activity	Sub-activity	S	Source level	Frequen	cy (Hz)	Vessel	Vessel	Engine (type/	Other Information	Confidence
		Value	Units (metric)	Range	Peak	length (m)	speed (knots)	size)		(H/M/L)
Shipping	Small sea going vessels	170-180	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	-	-	-		L
Shipping	Smaller tanker or freighter	170	dB re 1µPa m	-	40-400	135	-	-		Н
Shipping	Supertanker	185	dB re 1µPa m	-	7	337	-	-		М
Shipping	Supertanker	187	dB re 1µPa m	-	8	266	-	-		М
Shipping	Supertanker	190	dB re 1µPa m	-		340	20	-		М
Shipping	Supertanker	190	dB re 1µPa m	-	7	340	-	-		М
Shipping	Supertanker	198	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	-	-	-		L
Shipping	Supertanker	187-232	dB re 1µPa m	20-100	-	-	-	-		L
Shipping	Supertanker/Container ship	180-190	dB re 1µPa m (SPL)	<500	-	-	-	-		Н
Shipping	Tanker	169	dB re 1µPa m	-	430	135	-	-		М
Shipping	Tanker	177	dB re 1µPa m	-		337	16	-		L
Shipping	Tanker	180	dB re 1µPa m	-	60	179	-	-		Н
Shipping	Tug and barge	161	dB re 1µPa m	-	5,000	-	-	-	Loaded barge	М
Shipping	Tug and barge	162	dB re 1µPa m	-		-	10	-		L
Shipping	Tug and barge	164	dB re 1µPa m	-	1,000	-	-	-	Empty barge	М
Shipping	Tug and barge	166	dB re 1µPa m	-	37	20	-	-	Empty barge	М
Shipping	Tug and barge	170	dB re 1µPa m	-	1,000	-	-	-	Loaded barge	М
Shipping	Tug and barge	171	dB re 1µPa m	45-7,070	630	-	-	-		М
Shipping	Vehicle carriers	178-182	dB re 1µPa m	-	20-1,000	173-199	16-17	-		Н
Shipping	Workboat	159	dB re 1µPa m	-	630	34	-	Twin diesel engine		М
Shipping	WWII Battleship	183	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	-	20	-		L

The acoustic properties (i.e. source level<sup>1</sup> and frequency range) of each anthropogenic activity and sub-activity category were collated from scientific literature and published field monitoring reports. The specific source level units that are quoted in the literature were also included in Table 1. The metric is also included in Table 1 where this is provided in the literature. The metric most suitable for continuous noise is considered to be Sound Pressure Level<sup>2</sup> (SPL) which may be written as dB re 1µPa m (NPL, 2014).

Ship source levels have generally been considered a simple function of ship length and speed (Erbe et al., 2012; Erbe et al., 2014). There are a number of studies relating ship noise to speed, however, that did not find evidence for a positive relationship between speed and source levels (e.g. Wales and Heitmeyer, 2002; Heitmeyer et al., 2003 cited in Mckenna et al., 2013). The lack of a relationship may be an artefact of combining multiple ship-types into a single regression analysis (Mckenna et al., 2012). In addition, propeller cavitation can be a dominant noise source of vessels travelling at moderate to high speeds (Leaper et al., 2014). Under the shipping and recreation category, therefore, any information on vessel length, vessel speeds and engine size/type were collated in separate columns in the accompanying Technical Annex document, Table 1. Additional information that could potentially support the development of a noise mapping model was also noted (e.g. water depth, duration, directionality, sediment type, location, local weather conditions).

The associated data limitations and/or constraints are also provided in Table 1. These included whether the data source was peer-reviewed, whether there were any information gaps (e.g. no documented frequency information) or whether any information was potentially incorrect or inaccurate (e.g. if source level units were not properly documented). Any limitations and/or constraints associated with the data formed the basis of assigning a confidence level (high, medium or low) with classification criteria detailed in Table 2. Of the 107 sources of information collated, a total of 33 were considered to have a low confidence and were excluded from further consideration in the model. Exclusions were predominantly sources that lacked both frequency information and were not peer-reviewed.

Table 2: Criteria used to assign confidence level to data sources.

Confidence level	Criteria
High (H)	Measurement data that is from a peer-reviewed journal and/or published book.
Medium (M)	Measurement data that is not from a peer-reviewed journal and/or published book. Modelled data from a peer-reviewed journal and/or published book.
Low (L)	Measurement and/or modelled data that is not from a peer- reviewed journal and/or published book. No documented frequency information. Source level units are not properly documented. Original data source is not referenced.

#### 2.2 Natural ambient sound

A brief review of sources of natural noise has also been undertaken in parallel to the review of anthropogenic sources. The results of this review are presented in Table 3. The sources of natural noise that have been collated are as follows:

- ambient
- bottlenose dolphin (clicks, whistles) •
- fish<sup>3</sup> (swimbladder noise)
- harbour porpoise (clicks)
- invertebrates (snapping shrimp<sup>4</sup>)
- weather (lightning, rain, storm, wind).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The source level is a measure of the acoustic output of a source, and may be considered as a characteristic property of the source itself, independent of the propagation path from source to receiver position.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>SPL (in dB) = 10 log<sub>10</sub> ( $P^2/P_0^2$ ) where P is the root mean square sound pressure and P<sub>0</sub> is the reference pressure. The reference pressure in underwater acoustics is defined as 1 microPascal (µPa).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Fish species is not provided in the literature source (Battele, 2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This is the only invertebrate that has been identified in the literature review.

#### Table 3: Natural noise sources that have been collated from available literature.

Source	Sub-type	Sub-type Source level Frequency (Hz)		cy (Hz)	Additional Information	Confidence	
		Value	Unis (metric)	Range	Peak		(H/M/L)
Ambient	-	60	dB re 1µPa m	-	<100	Cook Inlet, Alaska	М
Ambient	-	100-140	dB re 1µPa	1,000-120,000	-	Hastings Shingle Bank	М
Ambient	-	101-141	dB re 1µPa (SPL)	1-120,000	-	Southampton Water Typical SPLs were 120-130dB re 1µPa	Μ
Ambient	-	92-105	dB re 1µPa (SPL)	-	-	Weymouth Bay Sea state 1 to 2 No vessels within 2,000m	М
Ambient	-	70-100	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	Offshore central California Sea state 3-5	L
Bottlenose dolphin	Clicks	226	dB re 1µPa m	-	40,000-140,000		М
Bottlenose dolphin	Clicks	218-228	dB re 1µPa m	-	110,000- 130,000		Н
Bottlenose dolphin	Clicks	226	dB re 1µPa m	40,000-140,000	-		М
Bottlenose dolphin	Whistles	125-173	dB re 1µPa m	4,000-20,000	3,500-14,500		Н
Fish	Swimbladder noise	140	dB re 1µPa m	-	50-3,000		М
Harbour porpoise	Clicks	175	dB re 1µPa m	4,000-14,000	-		М
Harbour porpoise	Clicks	205	dB re 1µPa m (pk-pk)	110,000-160,000	130,000- 140,000	Duration 100µs Directional Clicks	Н
Harbour porpoise	Clicks	135-177	dB re 1µPa m	-	110,000- 150,000		Н
Harbour porpoise	Clicks	170	dB re 1µPa m	40,000-140,000	-		М
Invertebrates	Snapping shrimp	183-189	dB re 1µPa m (pk-pk)	2,000-200,000	2,000-5,000	Duration milliseconds Omnidirectional	Н
Invertebrates	Snapping shrimp	200	dB re 1µPa m	1,000-100,000	7,000	Occur at rates up to 2-3 per second	М
Weather	Lightning strike on water surface	250	dB re 1µPa m	-	-		L
Weather	Rain	105	dB re 1µPa	100-6,300	10,000	Rainfall rate 10cm/hr	М
Weather	Rain	81	dB re 1µPa	100-6,300	10,000	Rainfall rate 0.25cm/hr	М

Source	Sub-type	S	Source level	Frequency (Hz)		Additional Information	Confidence
		Value	Unis (metric)	Range	Peak		(H/M/L)
Weather	Rain storm	80	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	Heavy rain shower Flat frequency spectrum	L
Weather	Wind	95	dB re 1µPa	100-6,300	1,000	Shallow open water Wind speed 34-40 knots	М
Weather	Wind	82	dB re 1µPa	100-6,300	1,000	Shallow open water Wind speed 7-10 knots	М
Weather	Wind	66	dB re 1µPa m	-	-	Force 3 wind over water	L
Pk-pk – Peak-to-pe	ak				1	•	L

#### **2.3 Hearing thresholds**

To provide additional ecological context, the noise sources that overlap with the hearing sensitivity of marine fauna found in UK waters and may potentially result in a behavioural effect have been identified. This has involved collating hearing threshold data from published peer reviewed audiograms<sup>5</sup> of a range of marine species that occur in UK waters (Table 4). There are three separate studies that measured the hearing threshold of Atlantic cod and these are labelled as Atlantic cod 1, 2 and 3 in Table 4. Two separate studies for grey seal (grey seal 1 and 2 in Table 4) were also identified but these were well outside the frequency range of interest in this study (1/3 octave bands 63 and 125Hz (centre frequency) corresponding with the Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD) indicator for ambient noise<sup>6</sup>).

#### Table 4: Hearing thresholds provided in published reports.

Species (common name)	Frequency (Hz)	Hearing Threshold (dB re 1µPa)
Atlantic cod 1	10	82.8
	20	63.4
	37.5	75.4
	75	68.9
	150	64.8
	300	75.4
	600	139
Atlantic cod 2	30	91
	40	90.4
	50	83.1
	60	79.8
	100	77.3
	160	75.3
	200	81.6
	300	81.2
	400	84.7
	450	110.2
Atlantic cod 3	17.6	94.8
	35.3	99.2
	70.7	100.4
	141	101.3
	283	95.4
	400	118.5
Dab	30	95

<sup>5</sup> An audiogram is a hearing curve that depicts the frequency dependent hearing sensitivity or hearing threshold of a species, which in fish and marine mammals usually exhibits a U-shaped form. The hearing threshold increases (i.e. hearing sensitivity reduces) for frequencies outside those optimal for those species.
 <sup>6</sup> The MSFD provides a guide for the monitoring of ambient noise as covered by Indicator 11.2.1 on 'Continuous'

<sup>6</sup> The MSFD provides a guide for the monitoring of ambient noise as covered by Indicator 11.2.1 on 'Continuous low frequency sound (ambient noise)'. This indicator is described in the Commission Decision as "*Trends in the ambient noise level within the 1/3 octave bands 63 and 125 Hz (centre frequency) (re 1µPa RMS; average noise level in these octave bands over a year) measured by observation stations and/or with the use of models if appropriate" (Dekeling <i>et al.*, 2014, p 5).

Species (common name)	Frequency (Hz)	Hearing Threshold (dB re 1µPa)
	40	93.8
	60	91.7
	80	89.8
	110	89
	160	95.9
	200	104.9
Haddock	30	98.4
	40	92.2
	50	94.9
	60	87.1
	110	80.4
	160	84.9
	200	80.3
	250	82.7
	310	80.7
	380	87.3
	470	103.7
Herring	30	79
	50	76
	100	75
	200	76
	400	77
	1,000	79
	2,000	96
	4,000	136
Pollack	40	87.4
	60	81
	110	83
	160	80.8
	310	86.5
	470	107.7
Atlantic salmon	32	107.5
	60	105
	110	97.5
	160	95.2
	250	106
	310	112.5
	380	131.5
Bottlenose dolphin	75	132
	100	131
	200	113
	300	104
	400	100
	500	98
	600	105
	700	91
	800	94

Species (common name)	Frequency (Hz)	Hearing Threshold (dB re 1µPa)
	900	98
	1,000	96
	2,000	72
	3,000	76
	4,000	80
	5,000	73
	6,000	68
	7,000	62
	8,000	66
	9,000	62
	10,000	60
	12,000	53
Grey seal 1	2,000	84
	5,000	80
	10,000	80
	20,000	62
	30,000	67
	40,000	80
	50,000	91
Grey seal 2	1,400	83
	4,000	84

Species (common name)	Frequency (Hz)	Hearing Threshold (dB re 1µPa)
	10,000	73
	20,000	65
	25,000	61
	30,000	70
	40,000	84
Common seal	75	101.9
	100	95.9
	200	83.8
	400	83.9
	800	79.8
	1,600	67.1
	6,400	62.8
Harbour porpoise	250	115
	500	92
	1,000	80
	2,000	72
	4,000	67
	8,000	59

### **3. Logical Data Process Tool**

This section describes the detail of the noise propagation ArcGIS Toolbox including all tools, inputs to the tool and outputs generated. A diagrammatic representation of the ArcGIS "Noise Model Toolbox" is provided which clearly describes the steps and geoprocessing tools used in the tool in a logical manner.

#### 3.1 Tool principles

The tool works on the principle that noise levels will vary depending on the distance from the source. Each cell in the grid will have a value in time associated with the activity which occurs within that grid cell; however neighbouring cells will then have noise propagated from the source cell at a lower noise level but with the same time value. To mimic this propagation of noise, multiple ring buffers have been generated from each cell centroid out to 4.642km. This corresponds to 55dB attenuation from source using the recommended practical spreading model:

$$TL = 15 \log_{10}(R)$$

This relates to noise propagating to 20 neighbouring cells. Due to computational constraints this was considered a reasonable limit to represent the propagation of noise using the practical spreading model in the GIS tool.

Table 5 shows example received levels (in dB re  $1\mu$ Pa m) for each buffer distance. The distance of propagation was calculated for each 1dB attenuation decrease from the source level. The buffers start at 50dB attenuation from source as this is where the buffer propagation is beyond 2km i.e. the distance needed to reach the centroids of the closest neighbouring cells to the source cell.

## Table 5: The relationship of attenuation from source level (dB) to the received level at calculated buffer distances.

dB attenuation from source Total or Σ TL (dB)	Received Level	Buffer Propagation - "R" (metres) 10^(TL/N)	Buffer Distance (kilometres )
0 (Source Level)	173	0	1.9
50	124	2154	2.15
51	123	2511	2.51
52	122	2929	2.93
53	121	3414	3.41
54	120	3981	3.98
55	119	4642	4.64

Buffers have been generated at 1.9km (to encapsulate the source cell), 2.15km, 2.51km, 2.93km, 3.41km, 3.98km and 4.64km. However cell centroids of neighbouring cells only fall within the 2.15km, 2.93km and 4.64km buffers. Figure 1 displays the buffers and their relationships to neighbouring cells.

## Figure 1: Visual representation of the buffers applied to the source cell and the neighbouring cell centroids which fall within the buffers.



The value in time and noise level will then be applied to the neighbouring cells based on the source cell buffer which the centroid of the neighbouring cell falls within and the time value of the source cell. As each cell will have values for both source levels and the propagated noise from neighbouring cells, the value in time is summed where there is multiple values of time for the same dB level.

#### 3.2 Tool input data layers

Spatial data layers that provide information on both the location and intensity of relevant anthropogenic activities in the south marine plan areas have been identified and sourced. The following spatial data layers are used in the GIS tool to represent the spatiotemporal distribution of anthropogenic activities:

- Automatic Identification System (AIS) shipping data density grid
- Electronic Monitoring System (EMS) aggregate dredging data
- Vessel Monitoring System (VMS) fishing data.

Noise associated with shipping activities is derived from the AIS density grid, fishing activity noise is derived from VMS data and noise associated with aggregate dredging is derived from the EMS data. The base grid for the final outputs will be based on the AIS density vector grid of 2km x 2km, both the EMS and VMS data are converted to this grid resolution. Six ship type groups are used from the AIS density data, making a total of eight categories of noise sources;

- Mobile Gear Fishing Activity (VMS data)
- Aggregate Dredging (EMS data)
- Cargo Ships (AIS data)
- Dredger and Underwater Operations (AIS data)
- Fishing Vessels in transit (AIS data)

ng data density grid ate dredging data ta.

- Passenger Vessels (AIS data)
- Port Service Craft (AIS data)
- Tankers (AIS data).

#### 3.3 Toolbox overview

The toolbox contains two toolsets ('Pre-Processing Tools' & 'Sub Models') and two standalone tools ('Noise Propagation' and 'Final Join'). Figure 2 shows the expanded view of the toolbox.

#### Figure 2: Image of Noise Model Toolbox and the tools contained within the toolbox.



To accompany the toolbox four file geodatabases have been provided:

- NM Buffers
- NM Raw Datasets
- NM Tool Inputs ٠
- NM Tool Outputs.

The 'Raw Datasets' geodatabase contains the un-processed datasets as have been provided from the data layer source, these data layers are the inputs to the pre-processing tools. The 'Tool Inputs' geodatabase houses the outputs of the pre-processing tools which have been run on the 'Raw Datasets', these processed data layers are now the input layers for the 'Noise Propagation' tool.

The 'Tool Outputs' database houses the final outputs from the 'Noise Propagation' and 'Final Join' tools.

The 'Buffers' databases contain buffers for each cell in the south coast AIS grid; these buffers are used as selection criteria in the 'Noise Propagation' tool.

Three other feature classes have been provided in the tool inputs geodatabase; • a template grid which is used by the 'Final Join' tool to create the final grid a look up table which provides the source and propagated noise levels which are used

- by the 'Noise Propagation' tool
- a look up table which lists the 3 dB re 1µPa m bands used to summarise the values in the Final Join grid output.

It is recommended that the tools are run in ESRI ArcCatalog to speed up the processing time and no GIS extensions are needed for the tools to run. Each tool should be run individually and the next tool should only be run once the previous tool is completed. Figure 3 shows the order in which the Noise Model toolbox tools should be run, some of the tools rely on outputs from the previous tool to be able to run. The Sub Models toolset contains tools which are used within the Noise Propagation and Final Join tools and although are essential to the toolbox they do not need to be run individually.

#### Figure 3: Diagram showing the order in which to run the Noise model toolbox tools.



Each of the eight categories of noise source has an associated pre-processing tool which generates the vector grid input for that noise category; this is subsequently used in the 'Noise Propagation' tools. An output noise grid for each category is generated from the 'Noise Propagation' tool; these eight grids are then combined into the final output grid via the 'Final Join' tool. The output data layer is represented as the sum of time (in hours) within one year for different noise levels based on a 3 dB re 1µPa m interval scale. Within all the toolbox tools the intermediate steps are saved in the Scratch Geodatabase and in-line variables are used to specify input and output locations to avoid the need to specify the same location multiple times.

 This is the final tool to run, it uses outputs from the Noise Propagation tools saved in the NM Tool Outputs geodatabase. The suggested order to run the tools is listed below:

- 1. EMS to Grid
- 2. VMS to Grid
- 3. AIS Cargo
- 4. AIS Dredger UnderwaterOps
- 5. AIS Fishing
- 6. AIS Passenger
- 7. AIS Port Service Craft
- 8. AIS Tanker
- 9. Noise Propagation Part 1 Applied to the first buffer geodatabase
- 10. Noise Propagation Part 2 Applied to subsequent buffer geodatabase
- 11. Final Join

#### **3.4 Pre-processing tools**

Each pre-processing tool is detailed in-turn below with an accompanying schematic diagram detailing the geoprocessing steps. The schematic diagrams show the input data sets (blue ovals), geoprocessing tools (yellow rectangles) and the outputs from each step (green ovals). Each process is linked via a connector arrow showing the direction of movement through the processing steps, any precondition connectors (where an un-related step has to be completed prior to another step starting) are represented as dotted lines.

#### 3.4.1 Pre-processing tool – EMS to Grid



#### 3.4.2 Pre-processing tool – VMS to Grid

#### The SUM Time field generated by the Dissolve tool is deleted.



\* Essential fields include those integral to the database structure such as Object ID, Shape Area and Shape Length. Cell ID is also an essential field as it is used within the noise propagation and the final join tools.

#### 3.4.3 Pre-processing tool – AIS Cargo



\*\* Essential fields include those integral to the database structure such as Object ID, Shape Area and Shape Length. Cell ID is also an essential field as it is used within the noise propagation and the final join tools.

#### 3.4.4 Pre-processing tool – AIS Dredger UnderwaterOps

The EMS to Grid tool needs to be run before the AIS Dredger UnderwaterOps tool can be run as it uses the outputted EMS grid within the tool.



\*\* Essential fields include those integral to the database structure such as Object ID, Shape Area and Shape Length. Cell ID is also an essential field as it is used within the noise propagation and the final join tools.

\*\*\* To avoid double counting of dredging activity time where EMS data exists, a 0 value is given to the 'Time' field for the AIS Dredger and Underwater Operations grid.

#### 3.4.5 Pre-processing tool – AIS Fishing



\*\* Essential fields include those integral to the database structure such as Object ID, Shape Area and Shape Length. Cell ID is also an essential field as it is used within the noise propagation and the final ioin tools.

\*\*\* To avoid double counting of dredging activity time where VMS data exists, a 0 value is given to the 'Time' field for the AIS Fishing grid.

#### 3.4.6 Pre-processing tool – AIS Passenger



\*\* Essential fields include those integral to the database structure such as Object ID, Shape Area and Shape Length. Cell ID is also an essential field as it is used within the noise propagation and the final join tools.

#### 3.4.7 Pre-processing tool – AIS Port Service Craft



<sup>\*\*</sup> Essential fields include those integral to the database structure such as Object ID, Shape Area and Shape Length. Cell ID is also an essential field as it is used within the noise propagation and the final join tools.

#### 3.4.8 Pre-processing tool – AIS Tanker



\*\* Essential fields include those integral to the database structure such as Object ID, Shape Area and Shape Length. Cell ID is also an essential field as it is used within the noise propagation and the final join tools

### 3.5 Noise propagation tools

The noise propagation tool should be run after all the pre-processing tools have generated outputs and these have been saved within 'NM\_Tool\_Inputs.gdb'. The noise propagation tool will generate eight noise grids; one for each noise category, these will be saved in 'NM\_Tool\_Outputs.gdb'.

The tool incorporates three sub-tools within the model; 'Add Fields', 'Iterate Cells' and 'Iterate Buffers'. The sub models have been incorporated into the noise propagation tool to allow for multiple iterators within the model, the hierarchal relationship between these models is shown in Figure 4.





need to be repeated for each of the eight noise grids. All the outputs will still be saved within the NM Tool Outputs geodatabase.

The South Coast Marine Plan areas have 6279 cells based on the output grid used for the propagation tools, buffers have been created for each cell and saved within the NM Buffers geodatabases. The noise propagation tool iterates through each of the buffer feature classes and applies calculations to the output grid. To reduce computational issues, the buffers have been spread across multiple geodatabases

The Noise Propagation Tool has been split into two parts to allow for applying successive buffer geodatabase to the gridded area. The Noise\_Propagation\_Part1 creates the appropriate field in the output grids before propagating the sound values by iterating through the grid cells and associated buffers. The Noise\_Propagation\_Part2 does not contain the Add Field sub-tool so will not attempt to duplicate existing fields, it can therefore be run on each successive buffer geodatabase.

Note: The Noise Propagation Tools can take 20 hours to process a buffer geodatabase with 1288 features. Reference machine: Intel® Core<sup>™</sup> i5-3320M CPU @ (2.6GHz x2), 4 GB RAM, 64-bit Windows 7 Operating System.

The Noise Propagation tool and each of the sub tools are described via schematic diagrams in the following figures. The output feature class is generated within the level 1 tool, both the level 2 and level 3 sub tools only add and calculate fields to this output feature class.

The Noise propagation tool requires a high level of computational power to run, if the tool fails to run on a machine due to computational constraints then there are steps which can be taken to break the data into smaller chunks to allow it to run.

Firstly each of the noise grids which have been saved within the NM Tool Inputs geodatabase "Base Grids" data set can be run individually. The simplest way to do this is save a copy of the entire database with a suffix of "\_1", then delete all bar one of the noise base grids from the original geodatabase. This will run the tool on only the one noise grid which is left within the "Base Grids" dataset. Once this is finished you can delete the base grid in the inputs geodatabase and copy a new one over from the duplicate inputs geodatabase, this process will

#### 3.5.1 Noise propagation tool – Part 1

For further information on the relationship between the Noise Propagation model and the sub models please see Figure 4.



#### 3.5.2 Noise propagation tool – Part 2



The Add metadata and 'Add\_Fields' level 2 sub model (see section 3.5.3) are not required as these have already been created by part 1 which contains the buffer feature classes for the 'Iterate Cells' level 2 sub model.

#### 3.5.3 Noise propagation tool – Add Fields level 2 sub model

For further information on the relationship between the Noise Propagation model and the sub models please see Figure 4.

The source and buffer distance noise levels from the 'SD\_Lookup' table are saved as model variables.



Each 'Add Field' tool adds a new field giving it the name which corresponds with the source or buffer distance (from the model variables) it represents, this is calculated using the in-line variable 'dB\_% distance variable name%'. The calculate field tools then populate the fields with a value of 0.

#### 3.5.4 Noise propagation tool – Iterate Cells level 2 sub model

For further information on the relationship between the Noise Propagation model and the sub models please see Figure 4.



return "false"

#### 3.5.5 Noise propagation tool – Iterate Buffers level 3 sub model

For further information on the relationship between the Noise Propagation model and the sub models please see Figure 4.



### 3.6 Final Join tool

For further information on the relationship between the Final Join model and the sub models please see Figure 4.



The template grid is resaved into the outputs database as '\_'.

3.6.1 Final Join tool – 'Join Calculation' level 2 sub model





View

tureLayer

#### 3.7 Tool updates

It is possible to update the tool to change noise source levels, include new data layers or even look at a new study area. There are a few steps within the Tool which would need to be changed to allow for these updates to be incorporated.

To update the source levels for the existing noise categories, the "SD Look Up" table which is provided within the "NM\_Tool\_Inputs.gdb" will need to be updated. This table contains the source noise level and the noise level at each of the buffer distances; these can easily be changed by editing the table.

To include new data layers to the model a new pre-processing tool will need to be created to convert the new layer into the same grid as the output grid. The values in the outputs are based on the length of time (hours) an activity occurs for a year within each of 2km by 2km cell. To convert a new layer to match the other layers multiple issues will need to be considered such as;

- What does the new layer show?
- Can this be converted into time in hours?
- What length of time does the data set cover? And
- Is it the same year as the other data sources?

A new row in the SD LookUp table will have to be added for this new layer and noise levels added for each of the buffer distances. The name within the Category field of the SD LookUp table needs to match exactly with the name of the new layer once it has been pre-processed.

The tool can be run on a new study area as long as the underlying data layers (AIS, EMS, VMS and any new data layers if added) cover this new study area. The tool selects data within the South Plan areas during the pre-processing tools and the "MMO South Marine Plan Areas" feature class which is provided within the NM Raw DataSets geodatabase is used to complete this selection. This boundary file can be replaced with another boundary file and the pre-processing tools will then select the data within the new study area. A new buffers geodatabase will need to be created by running the 'multiple ring buffer' ArcGIS tool on the centroids of the cells within the new study area. All the subsequent steps will then produce outputs for this new study area.

If any of the source levels have changed or a new data layer has been added then the 'Final Join' will need to be updated. This tool joins the tables of all the noise grids and then completes field calculations to generate a final joined grid. If a new data layer is added then a new join will need to be added to the tool to join this layer, the field calculations will then need to be updated to include the additional fields from the new layer. If source levels have been changed then only the field calculations will need to be updated within the tool. These updates will need to be done by editing the tool using ESRI ArcGIS ModelBuilder.

### 4. ArcGIS Geodatabase Schema

The schemas for the four geodatabases which accompany the tool and the feature classes which are used within the tool or are created by the tool are detailed within this section. As described in section 3, four geodatabases have been provided;

- NM\_Raw\_DataSets.gdb
- NM\_Tool\_Inputs.gdb
- NM\_Tool\_Outputs.gdb
- NM\_Buffers\_x.gdb.

#### 4.1 NM Raw DataSets geodatabase schema

Table 6 details the feature classes within the NM\_Raw\_DataSets geodatabase, Tables 7 to 10 describe the schema for each of these feature classes.

#### Table 6: Schema of geodatabase 'NM\_Raw\_Datasets.gdb'.

Feature Class	Туре	Description
DG_2012_Ave	Vector polygon	The 2012 AIS density grid for UK waters.
MMO_South_Marine_Plan_Areas	Vector polygon	Boundary of the south marine plan areas.
MMO_UK_Fishing_Activity_2011	Vector polygon	Fishing activity for 2011 in UK waters.
TCE_2012_Dredging_polygons	Vector polygon	Annual time of aggregate dredging activity for 2012.

#### Table 7: Schema of feature class 'DG\_2012\_AVE'.

Field Name	Field Type	Description
OBJECTID*	Object ID	Automatically generated, incremental ID.
Shape*	Geometry	Automatically generated, feature shape.
CELL_ID	Long	Unique ID given to each cell.
Ave2012_ST_0	Double	Density of vessels for 'Unknown' ship type.
Ave2012_ST_1	Double	Density of vessels for 'Non-port service craft'
		ship type.
Ave2012_ST_2	Double	Density of vessels for 'Port service craft' ship
		type.
Ave2012_ST_3	Double	Density of vessels for 'Vessels engaged in
		dredging or underwater operations' ship type.
Ave2012_ST_4	Double	Density of vessels for 'High speed craft' ship
		type.
Ave2012_ST_5	Double	Density of vessels for 'Military or law
		enforcement vessels' ship type.
Ave2012_ST_6	Double	Density of vessels for 'Passenger vessels' ship

Field Name	Field Type	Descr
		type.
Ave2012_ST_7	Double	Densi
		type.
Ave2012_ST_8	Double	Densi
Ave2012_ST_9	Double	Densi
		type.
Ave2012_ST_10	Double	Densi
		craft' s
Ave2012_ST_All	Double	Densi
Shape_Length	Double	Autom
Shape_Area	Double	Autom

#### Table 8: Schema of feature class 'MMO\_South\_Marine\_Plan\_Areas'.

Field Name	Field Type	Descr
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Autom
Shape*	Geometry	Autom
OBJECTID*	Object ID	Autom
REGIONREF	String	Refere
LABEL	String	Refere
INFO	String	Name
AREA_SQKM	Double	The ar
Shape_Length	Double	Autom
Shape_Area	Double	Autom

#### Table 9: Schema of feature class 'MMO\_UK\_Fishing\_Activity\_2011'.

Field Name	Field Type	Desci
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Auton
Shape*	Geometry	Auton
ICES_ID	String	ICES
SUB_REC	String	ICES
ID	String	ICES
		combi
TOTTIME	Double	The to
MOBTIME	Double	The ti
		gears
PASSTIME	Double	The ti
		passiv
Shape_Length	Double	Auton
Shape_Area	Double	Auton

#### iption

ity of vessels for 'Cargo vessels' ship

ity of vessels for 'Tankers' ship type. ity of vessels for 'Fishing vessels' ship

ity of vessels for 'Sailing and pleasure ship type.

ity of vessels for all ship types.

natically generated, length of feature (m).

natically generated, area of feature (m).

#### iption

natically generated, incremental ID.

atically generated, feature shape.

natically generated, incremental ID.

ence code for plan area.

ence label for plan area.

of plan area.

ea in square kilometres.

atically generated, length of feature (m).

atically generated, area of feature (m).

#### ription

natically generated, incremental ID.

natically generated, feature shape.

rectangle ID.

sub rectangle ID.

rectangle and sub rectangle IDs ined.

otal time in minutes of fishing activity.

ime in minutes of fishing activity by ve gears.

natically generated, length of feature (m). natically generated, area of feature (m). Table 10: Schema of feature class 'TCE\_2012\_Dredging\_polygons'.

Field Name	Field Type	Description
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Automatically generated, incremental ID.
Shape*	Geometry	Automatically generated, feature shape.
ID	Double	Unique ID.
GRIDCODE	Double	Value of 1 to 3 which represents the dredging
		activity. $1 \le 15$ minutes, $2 = 15$ minutes to $1$
		hour 15 minutes and $3 = >1$ hour 15 minutes.
Shape_Length	Double	Automatically generated, length of feature (m).
Shape_Area	Double	Automatically generated, area of feature (m).

#### 4.2 NM Tool Inputs geodatabase schema

Table 11 details the feature classes within the NM\_Tool\_Inputs geodatabase, Tables 12 to 20 describe the schema for each of these feature classes.

Table 11: Schema of geodatabase	• 'NM_	_Tool	_Inputs.gd	b'.
---------------------------------	--------	-------	------------	-----

Feature Data Set	Feature Class	Туре	Description
Base Grids	AIS_Cargo	Vector polygon	Generated by the Noise Model Toolbox Pre- processing tool 'AIS_Cargo'. Input data layer for the Noise Model Toolbox 'Noise Propagation Model'.
Base Grids	AIS_Dredger_Und erwaterOps	Vector polygon	Generated by the Noise Model Toolbox Pre- processing tool 'AIS_Dredger_UnderwaterOps'. Input data layer for the Noise Model Toolbox 'Noise Propagation Model'.
Base Grids	AIS_Fishing	Vector polygon	Generated by the Noise Model Toolbox Pre- processing tool 'AIS_Fishing'. Input data layer for the Noise Model Toolbox 'Noise Propagation Model'.
Base Grids	AIS_Passenger	Vector polygon	Generated by the Noise Model Toolbox Pre- processing tool 'AIS_Passenger'. Input data layer for the Noise Model Toolbox 'Noise Propagation Model'.
Base Grids	AIS_PortServiceCr aft	Vector polygon	A Generated by the Noise Model Toolbox Pre- processing tool 'AIS_port_Service_Craft'. Input data layer for the Noise Model Toolbox 'Noise Propagation Model'.
Base Grids	AIS_Tanker	Vector polygon	Generated by the Noise Model Toolbox Pre- processing tool 'AIS_Tanker'. Input data layer for the Noise Model Toolbox 'Noise Propagation Model'.
Base Grids	EMS_Grid	Vector polygon	Generated by the Noise Model Toolbox Pre- processing tool 'EMS_to_Grid'. Input data layer for the Noise Model Toolbox 'Noise Propagation

#### Feature Class Description Feature Туре Data Set Model'. VMS\_Grid Base Vector Grids polygon Model'. ALL\_Grids\_Templ Vector none ate polygon 'Final Join' tool. SD\_Lookup Table none dB\_band\_lookup Table none summary band.

#### Table 12: Schema of feature class 'AIS\_Cargo'.

Field Name	Field Type	Descr
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Autom
Shape*	Geometry	Autom
CELL_ID	Long	Uniqu
Density	Double	The de
		7 (Car
Time	Double	The tir
		in a ce
Shape_Length	Double	Autom
Shape_Area	Double	Autom

#### Table 13: Schema of feature class 'AIS\_Dredger\_UnderwaterOps'.

Field Name	Field Type	Descr
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Autom
Shape*	Geometry	Autor
CELL_ID	Long	Uniqu
Density	Double	The d
		3 (Ves
		opera
Time	Double	The ti
		in a ce
Shape_Length	Double	Autor
Shape_Area	Double	Autor

Generated by the Noise Model Toolbox Preprocessing tool 'VMS\_to\_Grid'. Input data layer for the Noise Model Toolbox 'Noise Propagation

An empty template grid for the south marine plan areas with 3dB increment fields for noise levels, this grid is used by the Noise Model Toolbox 'Final\_Join' tool.

This table is used as a lookup table by the Noise Model Toolbox 'Noise Propagation' tool to apply the correct noise levels for each category.

This table is used as a lookup table by the Noise Model Toolbox 'Noise Propagation' tool to assign sound level exposure to the correct 3 dB summary band.

#### iption

natically generated, incremental ID.

natically generated, feature shape.

le ID given to each cell.

lensity value from the AIS ship type group rgo Vessels).

ime in hours that cargo ships are present ell.

natically generated, length of feature (m). natically generated, area of feature (m).

#### ription

natically generated, incremental ID.

natically generated, feature shape.

le ID given to each cell.

lensity value from the AIS ship type group ssels engaged in dredging or underwater tions).

ime in hours that cargo ships are present ell.

natically generated, length of feature (m). natically generated, area of feature (m).

#### Table 14: Schema of feature class 'AIS\_Fishing'.

Field Name	Field Type	Description
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Automatically generated, incremental ID.
Shape*	Geometry	Automatically generated, feature shape.
CELL_ID	Long	Unique ID given to each cell.
Density	Double	The density value from the AIS ship type group
		9 (fishing vessels).
Time	Double	The time in hours that cargo ships are present
		in a cell.
Shape_Length	Double	Automatically generated, length of feature (m).
Shape_Area	Double	Automatically generated, area of feature (m).

#### Table 15: Schema of feature class 'AIS\_Passenger'.

Field Name	Field Type	Description
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Automatically generated, incremental ID.
Shape*	Geometry	Automatically generated, feature shape.
CELL_ID	Long	Unique ID given to each cell.
Density	Double	The density value from the AIS ship type group
		6 (Passenger vessels).
Time	Double	The time in hours that cargo ships are present
		in a cell.
Shape_Length	Double	Automatically generated, length of feature (m).
Shape_Area	Double	Automatically generated, area of feature (m).

#### Table 16: Schema of feature class 'AIS\_PortServiceCraft'.

Field Name	Field Type	Description
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Automatically generated, incremental ID.
Shape*	Geometry	Automatically generated, feature shape.
CELL_ID	Long	Unique ID given to each cell.
Density	Double	The density value from the AIS ship type group 2 (Port service craft).
Time	Double	The time in hours that cargo ships are present in a cell.
Shape_Length	Double	Automatically generated, length of feature (m).
Shape_Area	Double	Automatically generated, area of feature (m).

#### Table 17: Schema of feature class 'AIS\_Tanker'.

Field Name	Field Type	Description
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Automatically generated, incremental ID.
Shape*	Geometry	Automatically generated, feature shape.
CELL_ID	Long	Unique ID given to each cell.
Density	Double	The density value from the AIS ship type group
		8 (Tankers).

Field Name	Field Type	Descr
Time	Double	The tir
		in a ce
Shape_Length	Double	Autom
Shape_Area	Double	Autom

#### Table 18: Schema of feature class 'EMS\_Grid'.

Field Name	Field Type	Descr
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Autom
Shape*	Geometry	Autom
CELL_ID	Long	Uniqu
SUM_Time	Double	The tir
		hours
		proces
Time	Double	The tir
		activit
		'SUM_
Shape_Length	Double	Autom
Shape_Area	Double	Autom

#### Table 19: Schema of feature class 'VMS\_Grid'.

Field Type	Descr
Object ID	Autom
Geometry	Autom
Long	Unique
Double	The tir
	fishing
Double	Autom
Double	Autom
	Field Type Object ID Geometry Long Double Double Double

#### Table 20: Schema of feature class 'All\_Grids\_Template'.

Field Name	Field Type	Description
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Automatically generated, incremental ID.
Shape*	Geometry	Automatically generated, feature shape.
CELL_ID	Long	Unique ID given to each cell.
dB_90	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_93	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_96	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_99	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_102	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_105	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_108	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_111	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_114	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.

#### iption

me in hours that cargo ships are present ell.

natically generated, length of feature (m). natically generated, area of feature (m).

#### iption

natically generated, incremental ID.

natically generated, feature shape.

te ID given to each cell. ime of aggregate dredging activity in for each cell, generated by the dissolve ass in the pre-processing tool.

ime in hours that aggregate dredging ty occurs in a cell, the same value as the \_Time' field.

natically generated, length of feature (m). natically generated, area of feature (m).

#### iption

natically generated, incremental ID. natically generated, feature shape. e ID given to each cell. me in hours that fishing activity by mobile g gears occurs in a cell. natically generated, length of feature (m). natically generated, area of feature (m).

Field Name	Field Type	Description
dB_117	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_120	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_123	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_126	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_129	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_132	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_135	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_138	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_141	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_144	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_147	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_150	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_153	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_156	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_159	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_162	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_165	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_168	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_171	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_174	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_177	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_180	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_183	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_186	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_189	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
dB_192	Double	Empty field to be populated by the 'Final Join' tool.
Shape_Length	Double	Automatically generated, length of feature (m).
Shape_Area	Double	Automatically generated, area of feature (m).

#### Table 21: Schema of feature class 'SD\_Lookup'.

Field Name	Field Type	Description
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Automatically generated, incremental ID.
Category	String	The name of the noise category.
SourceLevel	Double	The dB source level (1.9 km) for the noise
		category.
Distance_1	Double	The dB level of propagated noise for the first buffer
		distance (2.15 km) for the noise category.
Distance_2	Double	The dB level of propagated noise for the second
		buffer distance (2.51 km) for the noise category.
Distance_3	Double	The dB level of propagated noise for the third
		buffer distance (2.93 km) for the noise category.
Distance_4	Double	The dB level of propagated noise for the fourth
		buffer distance (3.41 km) for the noise category.
Distance_5	Double	The dB level of propagated noise for the fifth buffer
		distance (3.98 km) for the noise category.
Distance_6	Double	The dB level of propagated noise for the sixth

Field Name	Field Type	Descriptio
		buffer dista

#### Table 22: Schema of feature class 'dB\_band\_lookup'

Field Name	Field Type	Descriptio
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Automatica
dB	Integer	dB value.
Band	Integer	Associated

#### 4.3 NM Tool Outputs geodatabase schema

Table 23 details the feature classes within the NM\_Tool\_Inputs geodatabase, Table 23 to Table 32 describe the schema for each of these feature classes.

#### Table 23: Schema of geodatabase 'NM\_Tool\_Outputs.gdb'.

Feature Class	Туре	Description
AIS_Cargo	Vector	Generated by the Noise Model Toolbox 'Noise
	polygon	Propagation' tool. Input data layer for the Noise
		Model Toolbox 'Final Join'.
AIS_Dredger_UnderwaterOps	Vector	Generated by the Noise Model Toolbox 'Noise
	polygon	Propagation' tool. Input data layer for the Noise
		Model Toolbox 'Final Join'.
AIS_Fishing	Vector	Generated by the Noise Model Toolbox 'Noise
	polygon	Propagation' tool. Input data layer for the Noise
		Model Toolbox 'Final Join'.
AIS_Passenger	Vector	Generated by the Noise Model Toolbox 'Noise
	polygon	Propagation' tool. Input data layer for the Noise
		Model Toolbox 'Final Join'.
AIS_PortServiceCraft	Vector	Generated by the Noise Model Toolbox 'Noise
	polygon	Propagation' tool. Input data layer for the Noise
		Model Toolbox 'Final Join'.
AIS_Tanker	Vector	Generated by the Noise Model Toolbox 'Noise
	polygon	Propagation' tool. Input data layer for the Noise
		Model Toolbox 'Final Join'.
EMS_Grid	Vector	Generated by the Noise Model Toolbox 'Noise
	polygon	Propagation' tool. Input data layer for the Noise
		Model Toolbox 'Final Join'.
VMS_Grid	Vector	Generated by the Noise Model Toolbox 'Noise
	polygon	Propagation' tool. Input data layer for the Noise
		Model Toolbox 'Final Join'.
Final_Grid	Vector	The final grid output which combines all the noise
	polygon	category output layers into one. Output of the Noise
		Model Toolbox 'Final_Join' tool.

#### ance (4.64 km) for the noise category.

ally generated, incremental ID.

d 3 dB band.

#### Table 24: Schema of feature class 'AIS\_Cargo'.

Field Name	Field Type	Description
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Automatically generated, incremental ID.
Shape*	Geometry	Automatically generated, feature shape.
CELL_ID	Long	Unique ID given to each cell.
Density	Double	The density value from the AIS ship type group 7 (Cargo Vessels).
Time	Double	The time in hours that cargo ships are present in a cell.
dB_185	Double	The time of noise in hours at the source dB level.
dB_135	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 1 distance dB level.
dB_134	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 2 distance dB level.
dB_133	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 3 distance dB level.
dB_132	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 4 distance dB level.
dB_131	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 5 distance dB level.
dB_130	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 6 distance dB level.
Shape_Length	Double	Automatically generated, length of feature (m).
Shape_Area	Double	Automatically generated, area of feature (m).

#### Table 25: Schema of feature class 'AIS\_Dredger\_UnderwaterOps'.

Field Name	Field Type	Description
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Automatically generated, incremental ID.
Shape*	Geometry	Automatically generated, feature shape.
CELL_ID	Long	Unique ID given to each cell.
Density	Double	The density value from the AIS ship type group 3 (Vessels engaged in dredging or underwater operations).
Time	Double	The time in hours that cargo ships are present in a cell.
dB_181	Double	The time of noise in hours at the source dB level.
dB_131	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 1 distance dB level.
dB_130	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 2 distance dB level.
dB_129	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 3 distance dB level.
dB_128	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 4 distance dB level.

Field Name	Field Type	Descri
dB_127	Double	The tin
		distanc
dB_126	Double	The tin
		distanc
Shape_Length	Double	Autom
Shape_Area	Double	Autom

#### Table 26: Schema of feature class 'AIS\_Fishing'.

Field Name	Field Type	Descr
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Autom
Shape*	Geometry	Autom
CELL_ID	Long	Uniqu
Density	Double	The de
		9 (Fisł
Time	Double	The tir
		in a ce
dB_150	Double	The tir
		level.
dB_100	Double	The tir
		distan
dB_99	Double	The tir
		distan
dB_98	Double	The tir
		distan
dB_97	Double	The tir
		distan
dB_96	Double	The tir
		distan
dB_95	Double	The tir
		distan
Shape_Length	Double	Autom
Shape Area	Double	Autom

#### Table 27: Schema of feature class 'AIS\_Passenger'.

Field Name	Field Type	Descr
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Autom
Shape*	Geometry	Autom
CELL_ID	Long	Uniqu
Density	Double	The de
		6 (Pas
Time	Double	The tir
		in a ce
dB_155	Double	The tir
		level.
dB_105	Double	The tir

#### ption

ne of noise in hours for the buffer 5 ce dB level.

ne of noise in hours for the buffer 6 ce dB level.

atically generated, length of feature (m). atically generated, area of feature (m).

#### iption

natically generated, incremental ID.

atically generated, feature shape.

e ID given to each cell.

ensity value from the AIS ship type group hing Vessels).

me in hours that cargo ships are present ell.

me of noise in hours at the source dB

me of noise in hours for the buffer 1 ce dB level.

me of noise in hours for the buffer 2 nce dB level.

ime of noise in hours for the buffer 3 ice dB level.

me of noise in hours for the buffer 4 ice dB level.

me of noise in hours for the buffer 5 ice dB level.

ime of noise in hours for the buffer 6 ice dB level.

natically generated, length of feature (m). natically generated, area of feature (m).

#### iption

natically generated, incremental ID. natically generated, feature shape.

le ID given to each cell.

lensity value from the AIS ship type group ssenger vessels).

me in hours that cargo ships are present ell.

ime of noise in hours at the source dB

me of noise in hours for the buffer 1

Field Name	Field Type	Description
		distance dB level.
dB_104	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 2 distance dB level.
dB_103	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 3 distance dB level.
dB_102	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 4 distance dB level.
dB_101	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 5 distance dB level.
dB_100	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 6 distance dB level.
Shape_Length	Double	Automatically generated, length of feature (m).
Shape_Area	Double	Automatically generated, area of feature (m).

#### Table 28: Schema of feature class 'AIS\_PortServiceCraft'.

Field Name	Field Type	Description
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Automatically generated, incremental ID.
Shape*	Geometry	Automatically generated, feature shape.
CELL_ID	Long	Unique ID given to each cell.
Density	Double	The density value from the AIS ship type group 2 (Port service craft).
Time	Double	The time in hours that cargo ships are present in a cell.
dB_166	Double	The time of noise in hours at the source dB level.
dB_116	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 1 distance dB level.
dB_115	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 2 distance dB level.
dB_114	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 3 distance dB level.
dB_113	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 4 distance dB level.
dB_112	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 5 distance dB level.
dB_111	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 6 distance dB level.
Shape_Length	Double	Automatically generated, length of feature (m).
Shape_Area	Double	Automatically generated, area of feature (m).

#### Table 29: Schema of feature class 'AIS\_Tanker'.

Field Name	Field Type	Description
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Automatically generated, incremental ID.
Shape*	Geometry	Automatically generated, feature shape.
CELL_ID	Long	Unique ID given to each cell.

Field Name	Field Type	Description
Density	Double	The density value from the AIS ship type group 8 (Tankers).
Time	Double	The time in hours that cargo ships are present in a cell.
dB_184	Double	The time of noise in hours at the source dB level.
dB_134	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 1 distance dB level.
dB_133	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 2 distance dB level.
dB_132	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 3 distance dB level.
dB_131	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 4 distance dB level.
dB_130	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 5 distance dB level.
dB_129	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 6 distance dB level.
Shape_Length	Double	Automatically generated, length of feature (m).
Shape_Area	Double	Automatically generated, area of feature (m).

#### Table 30: Schema of feature class 'EMS\_Grid'.

Field Name	Field Type	Description
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Automatically generated, incremental ID.
Shape*	Geometry	Automatically generated, feature shape.
CELL_ID	Long	Unique ID given to each cell.
Density	Double	The density value from EMS.
Time	Double	The time in hours that cargo ships are present
		in a cell.
dB_187	Double	The time of noise in hours at the source dB
		level.
dB_137	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 1
		distance dB level.
dB_136	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 2
		distance dB level.
dB_135	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 3
		distance dB level.
dB_134	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 4
		distance dB level.
dB_133	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 5
		distance dB level.
dB_132	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 6
		distance dB level.
Shape_Length	Double	Automatically generated, length of feature (m).
Shape_Area	Double	Automatically generated, area of feature (m).

#### Table 31: Schema of feature class 'VMS\_Grid'.

Field Name	Field Type	Description
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Automatically generated, incremental ID.
Shape*	Geometry	Automatically generated, feature shape.
CELL_ID	Long	Unique ID given to each cell.
Density	Double	The density value from VMS.
Time	Double	The time in hours that cargo ships are present in a cell.
dB_147	Double	The time of noise in hours at the source dB level.
dB_97	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 1 distance dB level.
dB_96	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 2 distance dB level.
dB_95	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 3 distance dB level.
dB_94	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 4 distance dB level.
dB_93	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 5 distance dB level.
dB_92	Double	The time of noise in hours for the buffer 6 distance dB level.
Shape_Length	Double	Automatically generated, length of feature (m).
Shape_Area	Double	Automatically generated, area of feature (m).

 Table 32: Schema of feature class 'Final\_Grid'.

Field Name	Field Type	Description
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Automatically generated, incremental ID.
Shape*	Geometry	Automatically generated, feature shape.
CELL_ID	Long	Unique ID given to each cell.
dB_90	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 90 dB interval level for all poise categories
dB_93	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 93 dB interval level for all noise categories.
dB_96	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 96 dB interval level for all noise categories.
dB_99	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 99 dB interval level for all noise categories.
dB_102	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 102 dB interval level for all noise categories.
dB_105	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 105 dB interval level for all noise categories.
dB_108	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 108 dB interval level for all noise categories.
dB_111	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 111 dB interval level for all noise categories.

Field Name	Field Type	Description
dB_114	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 114 dB interval
		level for all noise categories.
dB_117	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 117 dB interval
		level for all noise categories.
dB_120	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 120 dB interval
	D. I.I.	level for all noise categories.
dB_123	Double	I he time in hours of hoise at the 123 dB interval
dP 126	Doublo	The time in hours of poice at the 126 dB interval
UB_120	Double	level for all poise categories
dB 129	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 129 dB interval
ub_123	Double	level for all noise categories
dB 132	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 132 dB interval
	Deable	level for all noise categories.
dB 135	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 135 dB interval
		level for all noise categories.
dB_138	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 138 dB interval
		level for all noise categories.
dB_141	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 141 dB interval
		level for all noise categories.
dB_144	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 144 dB interval
		level for all noise categories.
dB_147	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 147 dB interval
	D. I.I.	level for all noise categories.
dB_150	Double	I he time in hours of hoise at the 150 dB interval
dP 152	Doublo	The time in hours of poice at the 152 dB interval
ub_155	Double	level for all noise categories
dB 156	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 156 dB interval
	Deable	level for all noise categories.
dB 159	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 159 dB interval
_		level for all noise categories.
dB_162	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 162 dB interval
		level for all noise categories.
dB_165	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 165 dB interval
		level for all noise categories.
dB_168	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 168 dB interval
	D. I.I.	level for all noise categories.
dB_171	Double	I he time in hours of hoise at the 1/1 dB interval
dP 171	Doublo	The time in hours of poice at the 174 dB interval
dB_174	Double	level for all noise categories
dB 177	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 177 dB interval
	Double	level for all noise categories.
dB 180	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 180 dB interval
		level for all noise categories.
dB_183	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 183 dB interval
		level for all noise categories.

Field Name	Field Type	Description
dB_186	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 186 dB interval level for all noise categories.
dB_189	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 189 dB interval level for all noise categories.
dB_192	Double	The time in hours of noise at the 192 dB interval level for all noise categories.
Shape_Length	Double	Automatically generated, length of feature (m).
Shape_Area	Double	Automatically generated, area of feature (m).

#### 4.4 NM Buffers geodatabase schema

The NM\_Buffers\_x.gdb contains the buffer feature classes (Tables 32 and 33). Each of the feature classes represents a multiple ring buffer for a cell within the south marine plan template grid and the final output grids. The buffers are used by the Noise Model Toolbox 'Noise Propagation' tools.

#### Table 33: Schema of geodatabase 'NM\_Buffers\_x.gdb'.

Feature Class	Туре	Description
B_63217	Vector polygon	Multiple ring buffer at 4 distances: 1.9 km, 2.15 km, 2.93 km and 4.64 km. from the centroid of cell 63217.
Contains 6279 buffers in total from B_63217 to B100407.	Vector polygon	Multiple ring buffers for all 6279 cells
B_100407	Vector polygon	Multiple ring buffer at 4 distances: 1.9 km, 2.15 km, 2.93 km and 4.64 km. from the centroid of cell 100407.

Table 34: Schema of feature class 'B\_100407' as an example of the schema of all feature classes contained within 'NM\_Buffers\_x.gdb'.

Field Name	Field Type	Description
OBJECTID_1*	Object ID	Automatically generated, incremental ID.
Shape*	Geometry	Automatically generated, feature shape.
distance	Double	The distance in kilometres of the buffer from
		the centroid of the cell.
Shape_Length	Double	Automatically generated, length of feature (m).
Shape_Area	Double	Automatically generated, area of feature (m).

### **5. References**

ABPmer, 2004. Underwater noise during maintenance dredging and the potential effects on the migration of Atlantic salmon in Southampton Water. R.1108. ABP Southampton.

Advanced Research Projects Agency, 1995. Final Environmental Impact Statement/ Environmental Impact Report for the California Acoustic Thermometry of Ocean Climate Project and its Associated Marine Mammal Research Program. Advanced Research Projects Agency, Arlington, VA.

Akamatsu, T., Hatakeyama, Y., Kojima, T. and Soeda, H. 1994. Echo-location rates of two harbor porpoises *Phocoena phocoena*. Marine Mammal Science, 10: 401-411.

Arveson, P. & Vendittis, D., 2000 Radiated Noise characteristics of a modern cargo ship. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 107 (1), 118 -129.

Au, W.W.L., 1993. The sonar of dolphins. Springer-Verlag, New York.

Au W.W.L., Banks K., 1998. – The acoustics of the snapping shrimp *Synalpheus parneomeris* in Kaneohe Bay. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 103:41-47.

Au, W.W.L., Floyd, R.W., Penner, R.H. and Murchison, A.E., 1974. Measurements of echolocation signals of the Atlantic bottle-nosed dolphin, *Tursiops truncatus* Montagu, in open waters. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 56: 1280-1290.

Battele, 2004. Pinniped Assessment for the Cape Wind Project. Nantucket Sound. Prepared for the US Army Corps of Engineers.

Buck, B.M. and Chalfant, D.A., 1972. Deep water narrowband radiated noise measurement of merchant ships. Delco R72-28. Santa Barbara, California: Delco Electronics. 30pp.

Buerkle, U., 1967. An audiogram of the Atlantic cod, *Gadu morhua* L. J. Fish. Res. Bd. Cananda, 24, 2309-2319.

Busnel, R.-G., Dziedzic, A. and Anderson, S., 1965. Rôle de l'impédance d'une cible dans le seuil de sa détection par le système sonar du Marsouin *P. phocoena*. Compte Rendus des Séances de la Société de Biologie, 159: 69-74.

Caldwell, M.C. and Caldwell, D.K., 1967. Intraspecific transfer of information via pulsed sound in captive odontocete cetaceans. Pp. 879-937. In: Animal Sonar Systems: Biology and Bionics II. (ed. R.-G. Busnel). Laboratoire de Physiologie Acoustique, Jouy-en-Josas, France.

Celtic Offshore Wind Ltd., 2002. Environmental Statement. Volume II, Section 8.

Central Dredging Association (CEDA), 2011. Underwater Sound in Relation to Dredging. CEDA Position Paper - 1 November 2011.

Chapman C.J., 1973. Field studies of hearing in teleost fish. Helgoländer wissenschaftliche Meeresuntersuchungen, 24, 371-390.

Chapman, C.J. and Hawkins, A.D., 1973. A field study of hearing in the Cod, *Gadus morhua* L. Journal of comparative physiology, 85: 147-167.

Chapman, C.J. & Sand, O., 1974. Field studies of hearing in two species of flatfish *Pleuronectes Platessa* (L.) and *Limanda limanda* (L.) (family Pleuronectidae). Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 47A, 371-385.

Cybulski, J., 1977. Probable origin of measured supertanker radiated noise spectra. In: Oceans '77 Conference Record. Institute of Electrical and Electronic Engineering, New York, 15C-1-8.

de Jong, C. A. F., Ainslie, M. A., Dreschler, J., Jansen, E., Heemskerk, E. & Groen, W., 2010. Underwater noise of Trailing Suction Hopper Dredgers at Maasvlakte 2: Analysis of source levels and background noise – TNO-DV 2010 C335.

Dekeling, R.P.A., Tasker, M.L., Van der Graaf, A.J., Ainslie, M.A, Andersson, M.H., André, M., Borsani, J.F., Brensing, K., Castellote, M., Cronin, D., Dalen, J., Folegot, T., Leaper, R., Pajala, J., Redman, P., Robinson, S.P., Sigray, P., Sutton, G., Thomsen, F., Werner, S., Wittekind, D., Young, J.V., 2014. Monitoring Guidance for Underwater Noise in European Seas, Part II: Monitoring Guidance Specifications, JRC Scientific and Policy Report EUR 26555 EN, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, 2014, doi: 10.2788/27158.

Dredging Operations and Environmental Research (DOER), 2001. Characterization of underwater sounds produced by bucket dredging operations. ERDC TN-DOER-E14. August 2001

Enger, P., 1967. Hearing in herring. Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 22:527-538.

Erbe, C., MacGillivray, A., Williams, R., 2012. Mapping cumulative noise from shipping to inform marine spatial planning. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 132 (5), November 2012.

Erbe, C., McCauley, R., McPherson C., Gavrilov A., 2013. Underwater noise from offshore oil production vessels. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 133 (6), June 2013.

Erbe C., Williams R., Sandilands D., Ashe E., 2014. Identifying Modeled Ship Noise Hotspots for Marine Mammals of Canada's Pacific Region. PLoS ONE 9(3): e89820. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0089820.

Evans, P.G.H., 1996. Human disturbance of cetaceans. Pp. 279-299. In: Exploitation of Mammals (eds. N. Dunstone and V. Taylor). Cambridge University Press, London.

Evans, P.G.H., 2003. Shipping as a possible source of disturbance to cetaceans in the ASCOBANS region. ASCOBANS 4th Meeting of the Parties Document MOP4/Doc. 17(S) Rev.1. Esbjerg, Denmark, 19-22 August 2003 Dist.: 1 August 2003.

Evans, P.G.H. and Nice, H., 1996. Review of the effects of underwater sound generated by seismic surveys in cetaceans. Seawatch Foundation, Oxford, UK.

Evans, W.E. and Prescott, J.H., 1962. Observations of the sound production capabilities of the bottlenose porpoise. A study of whistles and clicks. Zoologica, 47: 121-128.

Evans, W.E., 1982. Preliminary Evaluation of Perception and Detection of Man-made Noise (LNG Source) by Selected Marine Animals. Hubbs-Sea World Research Institute Technical Report No. 82-142.

Greene, C.R., 1985. Characteristics of waterborne industrial noise. In: Behaviour, Disturbance Responses and Distribution of Bowhead Whales, *Balaena mysticetus*, in the Eastern Beaufort Sea, 1980-84 (ed. W.J. Richardson), pp. 197-253. Report to U.S. Minerals Management Service, Reston, VA (Available from NTIS, Springfield, VA; PB87-124376). 306pp.

Harland, E.J., Jones, S.A.S, Clarke, T., 2005. SEA 6 Technical report: Underwater ambient noise. QINETIQ/S&E/MAC/CR050575.

Hawkins, A.D. & Johnstone, A.D.F., 1978. The hearing of the Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. J. Fish. Biol., 13:655-673.

Heitmeyer, R. M., Wales, S. C. & Pflug, L. A., 2003. Shipping Noise Predictions: Capabilities and Limitations. Marine Technology Society Journal 37.

Hildebrand J., 2004. Impacts of anthropometric sound on cetaceans. International Whaling Commission. IWC/SC/56/E13 report, Sorrento, Italy. Available at http://cetus.ucsd.edu/projects/pub/SC-56-E13Hilde.pdf.

Hildebrand J., 2009. Anthropogenic and natural sources of ambient noise in the ocean. Marine Ecology Progress Series 395:5-20.

ICES-AGISC, 2005. Report of the Ad-hoc Group on the Impact of Sonar on Cetaceans and Fish, International Council for the Exploration of the Sea.

Ingemansson, 2003. Utgrunden offshore wind farm- measurements of underwater noise. Rep 11-00329-03012700. Ingemansson Technology A/S, Goteborg.

Itap. 2007. Messung des Unterwassergeräusches des Hopperbaggers Thor-R bei Sandaufspülungen an der Westküste der Insel Sylt. Husum: ITAP– Institut für technische und angewandte Physik GmbH for Amt für ländliche Räume Husum.

Johnson, C.S., 1967. Sound detection thresholds in marine mammals. In W.N. Tavolga (ed), Marine bio-acoustics, vol. 2. Pergamon, Oxford, U.K.

Kamminga, C. and Wiersma, H., 1981. Investigations on cetacean sonar II. Acoustical similarities and differences in odontocete signals. Aquatic Mammals, 82: 41-62.

Kastak, D. & Schusterman, R.J., 1998. Low-frequency amphibious hearing in pinnipeds: Methods, measurements, noise and ecology. JASA, 103(4), 2216-2228.

Kastelein, R.A., Bunskoek, P., Hagedoorn, M., Au, W.L.W. & de Haan, D., 2002. Audiogram of a harbor porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*) measured with narrow-band frequency-modulated signals. JASA, 112(1), 334-344.

Lawson, J.W., Malme, C.I. and Richardson, W.J., 2001, Assessment of noise issues relevant to marine mammals near the BP clair development. Report to BP from LGL Ltd.

Leaper, R., Renilson, M. and Ryan, C., 2014. Reducing underwater noise from large commercial ships: current status and future directions. The Journal of Ocean Technology 9(1):51-69.

Malme, C.I., Miles, P.R., and McElroy, P.T., 1982. The acoustic environment of humpback whales in Glacier Bay and Frederick Sound/Stephens Passage, Alaska. Unpublished report for National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service, National Marine Mammal Laboratory, Seattle, Washington, under Contract 81-ABC-00115 (BBN Job No. 08637-39). Bolt, Beranek and Newman Inc. Report No. 4848.

Malme, C.I., Miles, P.R., Miller, G.W., Richardson, W.J., Roseneau, D.G., Thomson, D.H. and Greene, C.R., 1989. Analysis and ranking of the acoustic disturbance potential of petroleum industry activities and other sources of noise in the environment of marine mammals in Alaska. Final Report No. 6945 to the US Minerals Management Service, Anchorage, AK. BBN Systems and Technologies Corp. [Available from http://www.mms.gov].

McCauley, R.D., 1994. Seismic surveys. PP19-121 in JM Swan, JM Neff, Young PC, Environmental Implications of Offshore Oil and Gas Development in Australia - The Findings of an Independent Scientific Review. Australian Petroleum Exploration Association, Canberra, Australia

Mckenna, M.F., Ross, D., Wiggins, S.M., Hildebrand, J.A., 2012. Underwater radiated noise for modern commercial ships. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 131(1): 92-103.

McKenna, M.F., Wiggins, S.M, Hildebrand, J.A., 2013. Relationship between container ship underwater noise levels and ship design, operational and oceanographic conditions. Scientific Reports 3: 1760.

Miles, P.R., Malme, C.I. and Richardson, W.J., 1987. Prediction of drilling site-specific interaction of industrial acoustic stimuli and endangered whales in the Alaskan Beaufort Sea. OCS Study MMS 87-0084. BBN Report No. 6509. BBN Inc., Cambridge, Massachusetts. 341pp.

Møhl, B. and Andersen, S., 1973. Echolocation: High-frequency component in the click of the harbor porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena* L.). Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 57: 1368-1372

National Grid, 2014. NSN Link Limited Norway-UK Interconnector UK Marine Environmental Statement March 2014.

National Physical Laboratory (NPL), 2014. Good Practice Guide No. 133 Underwater Noise Measurement.

Nedwell, J.R., B. Edwards. B., 2004. A review of measurements of underwater man-made noise carried out by Subacoustech Ltd, 1993 - 2003. Subacoustech Report Ref: 534R0109.

Nedwell, J.R., Edwards, B., Turnpenny, A.W.H., Gordon, J., 2004. Fish and Marine Mammal Audiograms: A summary of available information. Subacoustech Report ref: 534R0214.

Nedwell J., Howell D., 2004. A review of offshore windfarm related underwater noise sources. Report No. 544 R 0308. Report commissioned by COWRIE.

Nedwell, D.J., Langworth, J., Howell, D., 2003. Assessment of sub-sea acoustic noise and vibration from offshore wind turbines and its impact on marine wildlife; initial measurements of underwater noise during construction of offshore windfarms, and comparison with background noise. Report No. 544 R 0424.

Nedwell, J.R., Parvin, S.J., Brooker, A.G. and Lambert, D.R., 2008. Modelling and measurement of underwater noise associated with the proposed Port of Southampton capital dredge and redevelopment of berths 201/202 and assessment of the disturbance to salmon. 05 December 2008. Subacoustech Report No. 805R0444. Subacoustech.

Nedwell, J., Turnpenny. A., Langworthy, J. and Edwards, B., 2003 Measurement of underwater noise during piling at the Red Funnel terminal, Southampton and observation of its effect on caged fish. Report to Red funnel No. 558 R0207.

Offutt, G.C., 1974. Structures for the detection of acoustic stimuli in the Atlantic codfish, *Gadus morhua*. JASA, 56(2), 665-671.

OSPAR, 2009. Overview of the Impacts of Anthropogenic Underwater Sound in the Marine Environment, OSPAR Commission. Publication no. 441

Parvin,, S.J., Nedwell, J.R., Kynoch, J., Lovell, J. and Brooker, A.G., 2008. Assessment of underwater noise from dredging operations on the Hastings Shingle Bank. Subacoustech Report No. 758R0137.

Reine, K.J., Clarke, D.G. and Dickerson C., 2012. Characterization of underwater sounds produced by a hydraulic cutter head dredge fracturing limestone rock. DOER Technical Notes Collection ERDC TN-DOER-E34, U.S. Army Engineer Research and Development Centre, Vicksburg, Mississippi, USA.

Richards, S.D, Harland, E.J., Jones S.A.S., 2007. Underwater Noise Study Supporting Scottish Executive Strategic Environmental Assessment for Marine Renewables. QINETIQ/06/02215/2 January 2007.

Richardson, W.J., Greene, C.R., Malme, C.I., Thompson, D.H., 1991. Effects of noise on marine mammals. OCS Study MMS90-0093. LGL Rep. TA834-1. Report from LGL Ecol. Res. Assoc., Inc., Bran, Texas, for US Minerals Management Service, Atlantic Outer Continental Shelf Region, Herndon, VA. NTIS PB91-168914. 462pp.

Richardson, W.J., Green Jr, C.R., Malme, C.I. & Thomson, D.H., 1995. Marine Mammals and Noise. Academic Press, New York.

Richards, S.D., Harland, E.J., Jones S.A.S., 2007 Underwater Noise Study Supporting Scottish Executive Strategic Environmental Assessment for Marine Renewables. QINETIQ/06/02215/2 January 2009.

Ridgway, S.H. & Joyce, P.L., 1975. Studies on seal brain by radiotelemetry. Rapp. P.-v. Reun. Cons. Int. Explor. Mer, 169, 81-91.

Robinson S.P., Theobald P.D., Hayman G., Wang L.S., Lepper P.A., Humphrey V., Mumford S., 2011. Measurement of underwater noise arising from marine aggregate dredging operations-MEPF report 09/P108, Marine Aggregate Levy Sustainability Fund.

Ross, D., 1976. Mechanics of underwater noise. New York: Pergamon Press. 375pp.

Scholik, A.R. and Yan, H.Y., 2001. The effects of underwater noise on auditory sensitivity of fish. Proc.I.O.A Vol 23 Part 4. pp 27 – 36.

Talisman Energy (UK), 2006, Beatrice Windfarm Demonstrator Project.

Thiele, L. and Ødengaard, J., 1983. Underwater noise from the propellers of a triple screw container ship. Rep. 82.54. Copenhagen: Ødengaard and Danneskiold-Samsøe K/S. 51pp.

Thomsen, F., Lüdemann, K., Kafemann, R. and Piper, W., 2006. Effects of offshore wind farm noise on marine mammals and fish, biola, Hamburg, Germany on behalf of COWRIE Ltd, Newbury, UK.

Thomsen, F., McCully, S.R., Wood, D., White, P. and Page, F., 2009. A generic investigation into noise profiles of marine dredging in relation to the acoustic sensitivity of the marine fauna in UK waters: PHASE 1 Scoping and review of key issues, Aggregates Levy Sustainability Fund / Marine Environmental Protection Fund (ALSF/MEPF), Lowestoft, UK.

UK Marine Monitoring and Assessment Strategy Community (UKMMAS), 2010. Charting Progress 2 Feeder report: Clean and Safe Seas. (Eds. Law, R. and Maes, T.). Published by Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs on behalf of UKMMAS. 366pp.

Urick, R.J., 1984. Ambient noise in the sea. The Catholic University of America, Washington DC 20046.

Villadsgaard A., Wahlberg M., Tougaard J., 2007. Echolocation signals of wild harbour porpoises, *Phocoena phocoena*. The Journal of Experimental Biology 210:56-64.

Wahlberg, M., Westerberg, H., 2005. Hearing in fish and their reactions to sounds from offshore wind farms. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 288: 295-309.

Wales, S. & Heitmeyer, R., 2002. An ensemble source spectra model for merchant ship radiated noise. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 111, 1211–1231.

WDCS. 2003. Oceans of noise. A WDCS Science report.

World Organisation of Dredging Associations (WODA), 2013. Technical Guidance on: Underwater Sound in Relation to Dredging June 2013.

Zimmer, W.M.X., 2004. Sonar systems and stranding of beaked whales. In: Proceedings of the workshop on active sonar and cetaceans. ECS Newsletter Special Issue No 42. European Cetacean Society pp. 8-13.